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Introduction

Munichburg is a neight?orhqod located just south of downtown Jefferson City, Missouri. Originally
developed by German immigrants, the community evolved over time from a self-contained, tight-knit,
pnrqanly German-speaking community to a part of Jefferson City that has increasingly blended with other
sections of the larger town. Munichburg, an area consisting of several square blocks, is generally situated
on a ridge overlooking the Missouri State Capitol. Commercial as well as residential areas are present.
All parts of the neighborhood are within relatively easy walking distance of the Central United Church of
Christ. The north and west boundaries are a bluff that curves from about the middle of the 300 block of
West Dunklin Street to just south of U.S. Highway 50/63. The east boundary is in the vicinity of Monroe
Street. To the south, the neighborhood outgrew the original city limits at West Atchison Street, so Franklin
Street (along with Fillmore) probably should be considered the neighborhood’s south boundary today.

Figure 1: Current Map of Munichburg Neighborhood, Jefferson City, MO
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The above map shows the approximate boundary (curved line) of the Munichburg neighborhood. This

area of Jefferson City has never been platted or separately defined. Most historic resources that are as-
sociated with the neighborhood are within three blocks in any direction from the Central United Church of
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Chr!'st (this church has been known by several different names over the years - Central United Church of
Christ is the current name). Topography aiso defines the neighborhood boundaries, with a steep hill and
creek along the north and northeast boundaries.

Other National Register listings and historic surveys in Jefferson City include the following: The only
National Register district in Jefferson City with multipie property owners is the Missouri State Capitol
Historic District, listed in 1976 and with a boundary increase in 2002. The downtown commercial area as
well as the Capitol complex and individual residences are within its boundaries. The Lincoin University
Hilltop Campus Historic District was listed on the National Register in 1983 and with a boundary increase
in 2002. The “Jefferson City Historic East Survey” was completed in 1992 and the “Historic Southside
Survey” was completed in 1995 by the Urbana Group for the Jefferson City Commission on Historic
Preservation. These surveys were supported by federal Historic Preservation Fund grants, matched by the
City of Jefferson and monitored by the State Historic Preservation Office. This Multiple Property
Submission (MPS) builds on information developed in those surveys. [n addition, the MPS develops
historic contexts to explain the evolution of the Munichburg neighborhood and describe the property types
included in the MPS. Revitalization efforts are under way in parts of the neighborhood, and National
Register listing is expected to further this activity.

The history of Munichburg has been divided into three periods of neighborhood development, or contexts,
based upon cultural and architectural changes as well as upon development patterns found throughout
Munichburg. Section E addresses each development context, including cultural changes and the
architectural styles that were prevalent during each period. Section F covers specific property types found
in Munichburg and addressed in this MPS, the significance of each property type, and the registration
requirements for each type to be listed on the. National Register. Briefly, the three historic contexts are as
follows:

Context 1 - Early Settlement Period - 1850s to 1865

The 1850s to the mid-1860s represented the early settlement and growth period of the Munichburg
neighborhood, dominated by German immigrants who began to establish themselves in their adopted
country. Many of these families remained in the neighborhood for a long time, sometimes for several
generations. Theneighborhood's early growth was reflected in the establishment of its churches, school,
and retail businesses. Many of the neighborhood's residents made significant contributions as well, having
built the community’s residential, commercial, and religious properties. A number of these properties and
some of the early institutions remain today. :

Context 2 - Cultural Changes Shape Munichburg - 1866 to 1919
Missouri Germans in Munichburg tended to be conservative. Although often they did not embrace cultural

and social change easily, the neighborhood nevertheless experienced change over the years. During this
period, 1866-1919, the Central German Evangelical Church allowed women to become members, the
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church closed its parochial school and a new public school was constructed. The first car arrived in the
ne:ghborhood,. and the res:dentg experienced World War | as German Americans. Tensions between
German Americans and other city residents over a number of issues resulted in Munichburg residents, like
Germans in other Missouri communities, subduing or disguising their German culture. Local resentment
over the Missouri Germans’ support of the Union during the Civil War also had continued for several
decades. The temperance movement associated German Americans with the “evils” of drinking, and
prohibition of the sale of alcohol dealt a blow to the Capitol Brewery which had been a major neighborhood
employer. As an example of how the German culture was subdued, the word “German” was removed
from the names of numerous businesses and institutions. As Munichburg’s early settlers aged and
passed away, the second generation began leaving its own mark on neighborhood development.

Contgxt 3 - Post-WWI to the beginning of Neighborhood Decline - 1920 to 1954

Missogri stat_e government expar]ded around the nearby State Capitol in the 1920s and 1930s.

Combined with the return of soldiers following World War |, this resuited in the construction of a number of
houses and apartment buildings in Munichburg. Continued anti-German sentiment, coupled with the
impacts of the Depression and Prohibition, tended to limit economic growth in Munichburg. The
neighborhood school closed in 1954 when it was replaced by a new school (“South School”),
approximately eig@t blocks south of the Broadway and Dunklin intersection, outside of Munichburg. Efforts
by the Jefferson City Chamber of Commerce to recruit businesses and jobs on the west side of town
bggan in 1949 with gevelopment along Industrial Boulevard. The new Rex Whitton Expressway (U.S.
Highway 50/63) facilitated access to jobs and ultimately to new houses that were being constructed
outside of the city’s urban core, and away from Munichburg. While some German families remained in the
neighborhood, urban flight began in the 1950s and the stage was set for neglect and modern
redevelopment in the decades to foliow.
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Historic Contexts
Context 1- Early Settlement Period - 1850s to 1865

During the 1850s, Munichburg was established as a neighborhood in what had been the south side of
Jefferson City, Missouri. On December 31, 1821, just a few months after Missouri became a state,
Jefferson City (then known as Howard's Bluff) was selected as the site of the permanent capital. The site
was chosen for its central location and direct access to the Missouri River. The commission appointed by
the legislature to lay out the new capital city divided the four sections of land provided into 1,000 lots in the
central city, with the rest of the land divided into 5, 10, 20, and 40 acre lots.' The earliest map available
shows the Munichburg area divided into urban lots, with larger lots beginning on the south side of West
Atchison Street.?

Figure 2: Early Plat of Jefferson City, with portion of approximate Munichburg boundary added
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The curving black line indicates a portion of the approximate boundary of the Munichburg neighborhood.
This part of Jefferson City has never been defined separate from the rest of the city. Most of the historic -

New Day Press, 1938), 2-4, 9-10.

2 Map courtesy City of Jefferson, Community Development Department.




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(6-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section E Page 7.
Historic Southside (Munichburg) Multiple Property Submission
- Cole County, Missouri

resources associated with the neighborhood are within three blocks in any direction from the Central
United Church of Christ. Topography also defines the neighborhood boundaries, with a steep hill and
creek along the north and northeast boundaries. Note the 5 acre parcels south of West Atchison Street.
This area was outside the city limits at the time the map was drawn.

The settlement of Munichburg began sometime in the 1850s, after many Germans fled Prussia during
revolutions there in the 1840s.° During the nineteenth century the United States experienced a major influx
of German-speaking immigrants, and the nation's total foreign-born population in the last half of the
nineteenth century fluctuated between 25 and 30 percent German. Significant numbers of Germans
settled in Missouri, as the Midwest states were especially popular destinations for the immigrants. By
1890, census figures show that nearly 125,000 Missourians were German-bom, with about twice that
number speaking German.*

The 1850s to mid-1860s represent the early settlement and growth period of the Munichburg
neighborhood, as German immigrants began establishing themselves in their adopted country. By the end
of the Civil War, “Munichburg” had become a self-contained and self-sustaining German American
neighborhood within the larger city. The influence of the German immigrants continued in the
neighborhood throughout the period of significance. In the early period of development, this influence was
clearly visible in the style of architecture used in neighborhood buildings. Later, the German influence was
less pronounced although still discerable in the neighborhood architecture.

Munichburg was established on high ground overlooking the Missouri State Capitol, a result of available
land and the desire to establish a German-speaking Protestant church in Jefferson City. The German
community already had a Catholic church, constructed circa 1843.% The neighborhood surrounding that
church, named St. Peter's Catholic Church in the 1800s, was primarily along West Main Street. The
southemn boundary of the Catholic neighborhood was an area called “Goose Bottom,” where the
intersection known as “Five Points” is today on Highway 50/63. The Lutheran Germans had a church on
Monroe Street, and their neighborhood included the downtown area. These three German churches and
the homes of their nearby German residents are shown on the maps below. According to these maps

® Prussia refers to an area that was a former state of Germany, the largest of the German states with 13
provinces prior to 1919. Industrially and politically it was the most prominent state of Germany prior to WW-il. After
1945 it was partitioned among four Allied occupied zones, with most of its former provinces going to what is now
reunified Germany, the USSR and Poland. ' '

* Steven E. Mitchell, “Phase | Cultural Resources Survey of the MHTD Job No. J5S0352 Project Corridor.”
Report prepared by the Cultural Resources Section, MoDOT, for the Federal Highway Administration, 1994. (Survey
on file with Missouri DNR State Historic Preservation Office.)

1056 9"’ Raymond C. Backes, “Catholicism in the Capital City, 1828-1913,” (Ph.D. diss., Saint Paul Seminary,
56), 19.
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(which date from a later period), Munichburg was almost exclusively populated by Missouri-German
families. While German Americans resided throughout Jefferson City, the dominance of German residents
in Munichburg should be noted.®

% Walter Schroeder, (unpublished maps), Department of Geography, University of Missouri-Columbia.
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Figure 3: Ethnic/Racial Populations and Their Churches in Jefferson City, 1877
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maps. Data from Beasley's Jefferson City Directory, 1877-78.
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Figure 4: Ethnic/Racial Populations and Their Churches in Jefferson City, 1897
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The German Americans who settled Munichburg came here not to become Americanized, but to develop
economic, religious, and cultural freedom, retaining their native language and cuiture for themselves and
for future generations. These immigrants endeavored to preserve their language and traditions by
establishing their own churches, schools, and newspapers, and by continuing their traditional customs and
celebrations.” The Missouri Germans in Munichburg were characterized by their frugality and strong family
ties. E. A. Zuendt of Jefferson City wrote on these subjects in 1870:

The German is not so easily moved; he does not risk so much in a mercantile sense, and
for this reason he seldom becomes rich quickly, but nearly always only by hard work and
diligence; he clings tenaciously to that which he has gained. . . . But the Germans also
hang on to their old habits. They will nat forget what they have learned to cherish in their
old fatherland.?

The evolution of the name “Munichburg” deserves explanation.’ Many of the neighborhood’s early settlers
were from the northern part of Upper Franconia, more precisely the district of Munchberg. During the
revolutions that resulted in substantial numbers of immigrants leaving Germany, Munchberg became a
part of Bavaria. This would be comparable to the state of Georgia being conquered by the United States;
Georgians would never refer to themselves as “Washingtonians.” Similarly, it is unlikely that people from
Munchberg would have warm feelings toward Munich, the capital of Bavaria. Naming their new home
Munchberg would, however, have been acceptable. In 1881 the marriage of John Schneider and'
Margaretha Buhrle was described in a newspaper in Germany as being held “in der evangelischen Kirche
auf dem Munchberg’ (in the evangelical church on the Munchberg).”'® Apparently, the non-German
citizens of Jefferson City understood “Munchberg” as “Munichburg,” not realizing the political differences.
In a reminiscence written not long before his death in 1937, Julius H. Conrath described a number of mid-
nineteenth century neighborhoods of Missouri's capital city, a community into which he was born in 1863.

7 Anna Kemper Hes§, ed., .Erin McCawley Renn, Adolf E. Schroeder, and Oliver A. Schuchard, contributing
eds., Little Germany on the Missouri (Columbia: University of Missouri Press, 1998), 12-13.

8 E. A. Zuendt, letter to the editor, Jetferson City Daily Tribune, October 5, 1870, p. 2.

% The explanation of the name “Munichburg” was provided by Dr. Gary R. Kremer. Dr. Kremer is currently a
Professor of History at William Woods University and has written numerous books and articles on Missouri and
Jetferson City history. Previously, Dr. Kremer taught history at Lincoln University and served as Missouri's State
Archivist. Dr. Kremer served as a subconsultant on this nomination, contributing greatly to the information contained.
in Section E, as well as providing advice regarding the broad history of numerous aspects of Munichburg's
development. His input and guidance have helped to improve this nomination considerably.

19 Undated translation of a newspaper article from an unnamed German newspaper by Doris Dippold.
graduate student at University of Kansas studying with Professor William Keel, whose research revealed the
wedding announcement of his great-grandparents, copy in possession of Jane Beetem; Gary Kremer, interview by
Jane Beetem, April 10, 2002.
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One of the “distinguishing features” of the city, he wrote, was that “On the southside was a little town built
up by itself; Dunklin street was the main thorough fare and it was known as Munichburg, for the reason
that its inhabitants were all Germans from Bavaria, of which Munich is the capital."'" This explanation is
repeated in a history of Jefferson City published in 1986.'? Current residents of the neighborhood have
known the area as the “Southside” all their lives. Likely due to anti-German sentiment after World Wars |
and Il, this name became associated with the neighborhood. The name “Munichburg” never completely
died out, evidenced by the Old Munichburg Antique Mall on Jefferson Street established in the 1990, and
the Old Munichburg Association, a neighborhood group dedicated to promoting and improving the area.

The railroad arrived in Jefferson City in 1856, although the effect of its arrival was not apparent until after
the Civil War. Neighborhood development was slowed somewhat by the war, probably due to several
factors: (1) some of the men, serving in the army, being away from home for iong periods of time, (2) the
uncertainty that is associated with wartime, and (3) the disruption of military activities in Jefferson City and
in Munichburg itself. An undated map of Civil War fortifications in Jefferson City shows a major fortification
just north of West Dunklin Street in Munichburg. As a high point just south of the Capitol, this location was
a natural defensive position. Also, the Confederates may have chosen this position in the heart of the
Munichburg neighborhood since the Missouri Germans supported the Union. Evidence of these
fortifications remained near the southern end of Washington Street until the early 1920s.™

Since establishment of a Protestant church was a primary motivation in the settlement of the
neighborhood, the residents did not delay in getting started. On January 1, 1858, more than three-dozen

. German immigrants in Munichburg met to form the Central German Evangelical Church of Jefferson City.
They met in members’ homes, until a church was built in 1859 at the intersection of Washington and
Ashley Streets.' By the end of the Civil War, this church had become the cultural and social center of a
German ethnic neighborhood. Immigrants to the neighborhood created a multidimensional, self-contained,
and self-sustaining community: They worked, worshiped, played, shopped, and went to school without
traveling more than six blocks. The church is obvious in this portion of the “Bird’s Eye View, of 1869.”

'"* Quoted in James E. Ford, A History of Jefferson City, 208.

'2 Joseph S. Summers Jr., Pictorial Folk History of Jefferson City, Missouri. 1890-1900. (Jefferson City:
Summers Publishing, 1986), 11.

'3 Ford, History, 84-86.

'* Cole County Historical Society, Philip Hess House file.

'S Qur Quasguicentennial. 1858-1983 (Jefferson City: Central United Church of Christ 1983), n.p.
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Figure 5: Jefferson City Civil War Fortifications
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Source: Undated map, Missouri River Regional Library, Jefferson City vertical files.
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Figure 6: Bird’s Eye View of 1869 - Close-up of Munichburg

R

e

A

o BT TTTY . R
~ o s B

g N TN S ’
PR W T GRSy

o< .“". ,, L ”\’,‘!:' ‘b_r".?x .
A T e S
AT Ty v?sst”"“% P et
g R RATIT e N o
3 %"’.' R sl o e w5 1)
R T W 4

oy

4

)
-
»
q.
» b

yvmle the social and cultural center of the German southside was the Central German Evangelical Church
in the 700 block of Washington Street, the heart of the business center was at the intersection of Dunklin
and Jefferson Streets, only two blocks away. Jefferson Street was the major artery connecting Munichburg
to the larger City of Jefferson throughout much of the nineteenth century, and Dunklin Street was the
major east-west street through the neighborhood.

Among the oldest of the businesses at the intersection was a general merchandise store first operated by
two Bavarian brothers, Ch_arles_and Jacob Tanner. The Tanner brothers immigrated to Jefferson City in
1854, after brief sojourns in Ohio and Indiana. They operated a mill along the Moreau River south of the
city until a flood destroyed their business in 1858. Following the flood, the brothers set up a business in
Munichburg.'® They bought property at 700 Jefferson Street and built what was described by a
contemporary as “a substantial brick store 24 x 36 ft. in which they engaged in the business of general
merchandise.” Jacob Tanner purchased his brother Charles's interest in the business right before the Civil
War and contmugd to operate the store on his own through the war years. lil health forced Tanner to
abandon tr}e tgusmess from 1866-1869. but in the latter year he resumed control of the store and
expanded it with a large addition to the south. The new addition allowed Tanner to sell groceries as well as

'8 Ford, History, 556-57.
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general merchandise. Tanner began to sell farm machinery from this location as well.'”

Some of the earliest commercial businesses in the neighborhood may have operated out of residential
structures. One documented example of this practice was in the Philip Hess House at 714 Washington
Street (included in the MPS). Hess, a butcher and meat processor, became the third owner of this house
in 1865 and operated a meat market and grocery store in the basement of the house while he and his
family lived in the rooms on the main floor. He also delivered freshly butchered meat throughout the
neighborhood. Philip Hess lived in this home until his death in 1895.'®

The residents of Munichburg developed their neighborhood along staid, conservative lines and tended to
dominate the service and trade-oriented professions.' This frugal tendency served the neighborhood well,
as a number of buildings constructed during this settlement period remain, a testament to their sturdy
construction by people who settled with the intention of becoming permanent residents.” Family ties and
the desire to live and work near other German immigrants are evident during this period, as in later
periods. During this time, the German language would have been spoken freely in Munichburg, with a
majority of the businesses depending on customers from within the neighborhood. There was little need to
travel beyond the neighborhood, as home, church, school, and businesses were all located within a few
square blocks. The fact that Munichburg was self-sufficient during this time helped it retain its cultural
identity, that was expressed in the architecture of the neighborhood.

Context 1 - Architectural Styles of the 1850s to 1865 - Early Settlement Period

This period in Munichburg's development is represented by one predominant type of architecture, Property
Type 1 - Missouri-German Vernacular. The Missouri-German Vernacular type of architecture is
characterized during this period by the use of brick walls set on stone foundations, topped with a gable
roof. Brick was readily available in Jefferson City from the establishment of the first brick kiln by 1826%'

, 7 Ford, History, 556-57; Gary R. Kremer, Heartland History: Essays on the Cultural Heritage of the Central
Missouri Region, vol. 2 (St. Louis: G. Bradley), 46-48. .

'8 Urbana Group.'Historic Southside Survey Inventory Form, Philip Hess House. (Survey on file with
Missouri DNR State Historic Preservation Office.)

'® Steven E. Mitchell, “Historic Resources of Boonville” National Register Nomination, 8.6. (Nomination on
file with Missouri DNR State Historic Preservation Office.)

2 Russel L. Gerfach, Immigrants in the Ozarks: A Study in Ethnic Geoaraph (Columbia: University of
Missouri Press, 1976), 82-84.

2! Charles van Ravenswaay, The Arts and Architecture of German Settlements in Missouri, (Columbia:

University of Missouri Press, 1977), 221.
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and was popular in Munichburg as in other Missouri German communities.?? The straightforward
architecture of these houses serves as a testament to the skill and creativity of the master carpenters,
called “carpenters and builders,” who varied the basic designs to fit the owner’s needs yet remained true
to the traditional building techniques learned in the country of their birth. The severity of the design and
relatively small size of these houses is an indicator of the conservative nature of the neighborhood
residents. The culture of the Missouri Germans influenced development patterns in Munichburg for over a
hundred years, as families were frugal and tended to stay together, remaining in the same homes and
businesses for several _dgcades. In the “Bird’s Eye View of Jefferson City, the Capitol of Missouri, 1869,”
Munichburg is clearly visible, anchored by the neighborhood church, with many examples of Missouri-
German Vernacular buildings lining the surrounding streets.

The term “Missouri-German” as it applies to vernacular architecture was coined by Charles van
Ravenswaay, one of the earliest and best-known scholars of the state’s German cultural heritage. His
1977 book, The Arts and Architecture of German Settlements in Missouri, documented numerous historic
German buildings in the lower Missouri River Valley, and laid the groundwork for many subsequent
stutdri‘es. According to van Ravenswaay, the early buildings erected by Missouri's German Americans did
not have

a self-conscious or designed look about them but, instead, were built in what might be
called a Missouri-German vernacular style. This local building tradition (related to what
German builders constructed in other parts of the United States) had its origins in the
various German states from which the builders and their clients had emigrated and which
they adapted to the needs of their new situation in Missouri. Gradually these new settlers
almost unconsciously adopted ideas from American styles and building practices.?*

The individuality of Missouri-German Vernacular architecture is evident in van Ravenswaay's description,
as he states that the houses ranged in size from one-and-a-half-story cottages with only a few rooms to
two-and-a-half-story houses with ten to twelve rooms total. Most of the houses were rectangular or L-
shaped, with between three to seven bays on the front, often with a central entrance. Typically the houses
had gable roofs, sometimes with dormers. Foundations may have been exposed to a considerable height
if the house was constructed on a hill. Brick cornices were constructed more frequently, but wood cornices
were more bold as they were painted white. The earliest Missouri German houses show the influence of
Klassisismus, the German variant of the Neoclassical or Federal style. Features of Klassisismus include

2 Mitchell, *Historic Resources of Boonville, Missouri,” National Register Nomination, 8.7.

3 van Ravenswaay, Arts and Architecture, 295.

' u Van Ravengwaay. Arts and Architecture, 225; Jane Beetem, “John B. and Elizabeth Ruthven House™
National Register Nomination, 1999. (Nomination on file with Missouri DNR State Historic Preservation Office.) 8.10.
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elements such as a symmetrical facade, straight lintels, double doors, and lights over the doors.? Brick
arches were used above doors and windows in all Missouri-German towns,? aithough in Munichburg
straight lintels were typical prior to the end of the Civil War, and segmental arches became predominant
after that time.

A few Missouri-German Vernacular houses in Munichburg reflected the influence of the Gothic Revival
style. Typically this was not a full expression of the style as may be found elsewhere, but was limited to a
pointed arch window in the front gable of a one-and-a-half-story residence. These houses exhibit many of
the Missouri-German Vernacular characteristics typical of the period.

Outbuildings during the settlement period warrant a brief discussion, as a few remain today. One type of
outbuilding was gctually constructed for use as a house - the Alley House (Property Type 2). Looking very
closely at the “Bird's Eye View of 1869," several of these houses are visible. There is one to the rear of
what appears to be the location of 218 West Dunklin (included in the Broadway-Dunklin Historic District),
two on an alley between Ashley and Atchison (at least one is extant and undergoing rehabilitation after
suffering fire damage), and several on the two blocks between Eim and Ashley Streets. from Washington
to Jefferson Streets. According to the Sanborn Maps, alleys were an important part of the layout of
Munichburg, with nearly every block having three alleys forming an H shape. Alley Houses were common
throughout Jefferson City, particularly in “Hog Alley,” downtown between High Street and Capitol Avenue,
where a high percentage of the community's black popuiation lived in the early years. A significant number
of Alley Houses have survived in Munichburg, while they are virtually nonexistent outside the
neighborhood. One reason could be that instead of being built for house servants or for rental use,
residents in Munichburg built houses in back of their own for use by extended family, as was the case at
218 West Dunklin. Another possibility is use by new and/or young German immigrants to the
neighborhood, providing a supervised but separate living space, particularly for young giris.?’ In the 1880
census, Gerhard Dulle's household includes his wife, son, daughter-in-law, three grandchildren, and
seven people aged 17-45, all having different last names.?® Whether for relatives or new German
immigrants, these homes received a higher level of maintenance than normal, allowing a good number of
them to remain today.

One gspeg:ially intgrgsting outbyilding is located to the rear of 610 Broadway (included in the Broadway-
Dunklin Historic District). Studylng the “Bird’s Eye View of 1869,” it appears that this building may have
been associated with a house a bit to the north, that no longer remains. The outbuilding bears a number of

2 Beetem, “John B. and Elizabeth Ruthven House” National Register Nomination, 8.12.

% yan Ravenswaay, Arts and Architecture, 225, 226 & 229.

Z Interview with Gary Kremer by Jane Beetem, April 10, 2002.

28 J.S. Federal Census Records, Cole County, Missouri, 1880.
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similarities to the William Stumpe smokehouse, a 2-story building in Washington, Missouri, that is pictured
in van Ravenswaay's book.? Presumably other agricultural outbuildings existed in Munichburg, particularly
during the early settlement years when houses were more spread out throughout the neighborhood. Time
and disuse have apparently resulted in the loss of many of the outbuildings that were less substantial than
the one behind 610 Broadway. Careful examination of the rear yards in the neighborhood will reveal an
assortmz:t.-n(tj of smaller wood or metal-sided sheds, but it is not always clear during what period these were
constructed.

The buildings constructed in Munichburg during the period between 1850 and 1865 are significant as
representations of the Missouri-German Vernacular architecture of the period. The distinctive
development patterns employed in Munichburg during this time, as well as the building traditions that
influenced the style and degree of ornamentation of neighborhood structures, reflected the culture of the
neighborhood’s early residents.

Context 2 - Cultural Changes Shape Munichburg - 1866 to 1919

Following the Civil War, development of the neighborhood began anew. Nelson and Oscar Burch moved
to Munichburg and constructed houses for themselves in 1868 and 1871. These were the first houses in
the neighborhood to utilize an architectural style other than the Missouri-German Vernacular of the
previous period. Elements necessary to achieve this style were made available via the railroad. Cornice
brackets and round-topped windows had not previously been available locally, but they were used on
these houses, presumably mgking them the most fashionable homes in Munichburg. From this point on,
houses constructed in the neighborhood almost always exhibited some decorative element that had been
dfliveretd to Jefferson City by the railroad, for builders no longer refied strictly on locally crafted building
elements.

Missouri Germans in Munichburg tended to be conservative by nature, so they did not embrace cultural
change easily_. But the neighborhood experienced change nevertheless. Several national movements
impacted life in Munichburg. First, the Civil War was over, but not forgotten. Many of the earliest settlers in
Jefferson City were from southern states and were disenfranchised after the war due to their support of
the Confederacy and inability to truthfully swear the required loyalty oath. Union supporters were able to
sign the oath, which allowed them to get government jobs and to vote. Dr. Bernard Bruns, a Missouri
German who relocated to Jefferson City from nearby Westphalia in 1856, was mayor of Jefferson City at
the time of his death in 1864,% as German Americans represented a majority of voters at the time he was
elected. The loyalty oath requirement was abolished in a few years, but bitter feelings likely lingered for
some time. The number of German immigrants arriving in Missouri and receiving aid from the German
Immigration Society of St. Louis increased at the end of the Civil War, decreasing circa 1874, although

# van Ravenswaay, Arts and Architecture, 222.

% Ford, History. 387.
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Germans that originally settled in other states continued to move to Missouri or places farther west.>'
Continued immigration and relocation of Germans aided in the growth of Munichburg during this era.

Another national movement was the women'’s suffrage movement, which had been building momentum
since before the Civil War. Kansans voted down a state referendum to allow blacks and women to vote in
1867. Ultimately the Fifteenth Amendment, adopted in 1870, gave black males the right to vote.* During
th|§ per!od, the Central German Evangelical Church was growing and plans for expansion were likely
being discussed, as the c_:hurch prepared to construct a new church and rectory by the end of the century.
Women then were the primary fund-raisers for such projects, through quilt raffles and church suppers, as
is the case today in many Mid-Missouri churches. With the efforts of the suffrage movement ongoing, and
f1aac7e6d with a need for substantial fund-raising efforts, women were allowed to vote on church issues in

Many women nationwide honed their political skills in the temperance movement, notably in the Women'’s
Christian 'Temperance Union. German immigrants had brought their expertise in brewing beer with them
to the United States, and beer became so popular that after 1890 more of it was sold than distilled spirits.
Technological advances of the day, such as the railroad, the telegraph, and refrigeration, enabled
breweries to control the manufacturing, processing, and distribution of their products. The breweries
helped establish and finance saloons that would sell their products exclusively, resulting in a profiferation
in the number of saloons. With so many saloons competing for business, many tumed to sideline
“businesses” such as gambling, cock-fighting, or prostitution to make a profit, resulting in saloons that
were an unsavory influence in the community.® The international temperance movement sought to put an
end to such practices. Many churches encouraged the movement, resulting in over 6,000 local
temperance societies by 1833.%

By the _1870; this religious and sacial movement had clearly reached an emotional level comparable to
the antiabortion movement of the present day. The editor of the Jefferson City newspaper in 1870 asked
E. A. Zuendt to write about “what causes hold the Anglo-Americans and the German Aerimcans [sic], in

%' Don Heinrich Tolzmann, ed., William G. Bek, trans., The German Element in St. Louis: A Translation from

's QLIS in Forme ars: A Commemorative History of the German Element” (St.

agiing 1) ) a e : |
Louis: 1893; reprint from unpublished manuscript, 1943; Baltimore: Genealogical Publishing Company, 2000), 206-8.

* The Susan B. Anthony Center for Women'’s Leadership, University of Rochester, “US Suffrage Movement
Timeline” <www. rochester.edu/SBA/timeline1.htmi> '

33 Ohio State University Department of History, “The Brewing Industry and Prohibition” <www.
prohibition.history.ohio-state.edu/Brewing/Default.htm>

¥ Encyclopedia Britannica, “Women in American History,” <www.britannica.com/women/articles/

ftemperance_movement.htmi>
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this country so far asunder socially, and what means would bring about a better understanding by each of
the other.” Zuendt touches on drinking in his letter to the editor: “{Germans] do not drink much more than
the English, but they allow themselves, much more time to do it, and they do it never in secret.” This
comment touches off a series of responses back and forth between Zuendt and Professor O'Connell, at
one point making the front page of the newspaper. In one letter, O'Connell calls Germans “Atheists"
because they are active in the business of brewing beer.% Besides their involvement in the brewing
industry, Missouri Germans’ attempts to cling to their European style of celebrating the Sabbath likely
invited disapproval by their non-German neighbors. In Hermann, and presumably in Munichburg as well,
festivals and dances were held on Sunday, including “music and song and wine,” resulting in an effort to
close beer gardens and theaters on Sunday that predated the Civil War.% Clearly the temperance
movement identified German Americans with the “evils” of drinking.

The temperance movement had a definite political aspect, as the national Prohibition Party was formed in
1869.% Locally, the political aspect was addressed in an 1882 editorial in the Democratic newspaper. The
Missouri Germans were staunchly antislavery before and during the Civil War, and so were almost
universally affiliated with the Republican Party. This editorial takes great pleasure in pointing out that the
Republican Party favors Prohibition, and suggests that Missouri Germans should consider a switch in their
allegiance to the Democratic Party. While the editorial makes no reference to the Germans’ affiliation with
local breweries, the author clearly enjoys the conflict faced by the German Americans.® That both of these
articles were published during October is interesting, perhaps a response to the celebration of
Oktoberfest.

The issue of Prohibition would have been of particular interest in Munichburg, as the dominant business
west of Jefferson Street, and a major southside employer, was the Capitol Brewery, that spread over
much of the 100 block of West Dunklin Street. Known originally as the George Wagner and Sons'
Brewery, the business was purchased on September 20, 1892, by Bavarian immigrant Jacob Moerschel
and his brothers Andreas and Franz. In the mid-1890s, the brothers razed the old buildings of the Wagner
Brewery and erected a “New Brew House, New Wash House, and a New Stack House.” By century’s end,
the Capitol Brewery had grown to a net worth of $80,768 and was producing 20,000 barrels of beer
annually with a workforce of approximately 40 neighborhood workers. By 1906, the Capito! Brewery's net
worth had grown to about $200,000. About this time, Jacob Moerschel decided to build a new home just
south of the Munichburg neighborhood, on a high hill overlooking the entire city. The magnificent home,

3 Jefferson City Daily Tribune, October 5, 1882, 2.; October 15,1870, p. 2.
3% Hesse, Little Germany, 29.

37 Ohio State University Department of History, “Prohibition (Party) Cartoons" <www.
prohibition.history.ohio-state.edu/Brewing/Default.htm>

38 Jetferson City Daily Tribune, October 17, 1882.
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completed in 1909, was named "Villa Panorama” because of the view of the city it provided.* The house
still stands today to the west of Munichburg, but none of the former brewery buildings remain.

The Capitol Brewery continued to prosper well into the twentieth century, although the war years of 1914-
1917 brought uncertainty. As the United States prepared for war against Germany, one manifestation of
anti-German sentiment was a renewed interest in the prohibition of the sale of intoxicating beverages, and
beer consumption was closely identified with German immigrants. Already in 1916, the Capitol Brewery
began to prepare for the inevitable onset of Prohibition by producing what was referred to as “Near Beer,”
a beverage with a low-alcohol content.* Even the new product contained too much alcohol to meet the
requirements of the Volstead Act, that went into effect on October 28, 1919. The law prohibited the sale of
any intoxicating liquors containing more than 0.5 percent alcohol. Capitol Brewery’s history of brewing
beer had all but come to an end, although the company would survive by switching to the production of
soft drinks and ice. (Descendants of the Moerschel family continued the soft drink business, fater
acquiring a Coca-Cola bottling franchise that still operates in Munichburg today.)

Anti-German sentiment, whether based on the move toward Prohibition or due to patriotic fervor during the
war against Germany, resulted in several subtle but significant changes in Munichburg. The word
“German” was removed from the names of a number of businesses and institutions. In 1913, for example,
the Jefferson City directory lists seven insurance companies as advertisers with a reference to Germany in
their name.*' By 1929, no such company names remain under “insurance” in the city directory, and the
Central German Evangelical Church is listed simply as the “Central Evangelical Church.™? “Munichburg”
became known as the “Southside.” And the neighborhood's architecture began to look more like buildings
elsewhere in the community and less “German” in appearance. As in other Missouri communities,
Missouri Germans in Munichburg began to celebrate their German culture less publicly.®

Jefferson City had a German-language newspaper, the Missouri Volksfreund, published by Albert Kroeger
beginning in 1876. In 1900, the paper’s offices were on Madison Street, between High and McCarty
Streets. The paper was published in 1913 from 217 East Main Street. During World War |, the number of
German-language newspapers in Missouri decreased from 15 to 10; some of the remaining papers

3’_ Moerschel tamily descendant Rosemary Moerschel Vogel retains in her povssession the business records
of the Capitol City Brewery. She was gracious enough to allow Gary R. Kremer the use of these records, from which
this information on the brewery is drawn. See also Ford, History, 395-6.

40 1bid.

1913) *' B.E. Hackman & Company's Jefferson City and Cole County Directory, 1913 (Quincy: R. E. Hackman,

2 polk's Jefferson City Directory, 1929 (St. Louis: R.L. Polk & Co. Publishers, 1929).

“ Hesse, 29.
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published part or all in English. This may explain why, by 1929, the Missouri Volksfreund is no longer listed
in the city directory. When men from Missouri went to war in 1917, an “atmosphere of intolerance”
developed, exemplified by the federal Council of Defense’s work to eliminate the “use of the enemy
tongue and influences.” Missouri's Governor Gardner endorsed an effort to eliminate the use of the
German language, and the state superintendent of schools refused to certify high schools that taught
German and forbide it to be taught in elementary schools.*

This edict proved not to be a problem in the Jefferson City schools, not even in Munichburg. Missouri
Germans had been strong supporters of public schools, as their opposition to slavery resuited in their
approval for financing of education for black students as part of the public school program.* Early in the
twentieth century, the Evangelical Church discontinued its parochial school, and neighborhood children
began going to a neighborhood public school located at the northeast corner of the intersection of
Broadway and Dunklin Streets, two blocks from the church. A new public school building was erected on
this site in 1903-1904. Designed by prominent Jefferson City architects Charles Opel and Frank Miller, the
new schaol reflected a decidedly Classical Revival influence and contained six classrooms. It received its
first students in the fall of 1904. The German language was taught in the Jefferson City Public Schools
from 1868 to 1889. In 1889, the German teacher was not rehired, as the Board of Education noted
opposition from prominent German Americans to the study of German in the public schools. This school
year had been reduced to eight months due to financial constraints, and the Missouri Germans viewed the
teaching of German as a frivolous expense. Also in 1889, the Missouri Legislature had debated outlawing
the teachung of German in public schools.*’ A new wing added four classrooms on the first floor and four
classrooms in the basement in 1920. This school building (part of this MPS) ceased to be a school in 1954
when it was replaced by a new neighborhood school (“South School”), approximately eight blocks south of
the old location.*®

*“ Lawrence O. Christensen and Gary R. Kremer, History of Missouri, Vol. IV; 1875 to 1919 (Columbia:
University of Missouri Press, 1897), 240-242; 1929 city directory.

5 Jerena East Giffen, The House on Hobo Hill: The History of the Jefferson City Public Schoaols (Jefferson
City: Jefterson City Public Schools. 1964), 36-37.

46 Urbana Group, Historic Southside Survey Inventory Form, Broadway School. (Survey on file with Missouri
DNR State Historic Preservation Office.)

47 Giffen, House. 75.

8 Our Quasquicentennial: Giffen, House, 107.
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Figure 7: Historic Postcards, Fair View and Broadway Schools (1912); German Evangelical Church
(1915)*

*9 Postcards in the collection of the author.
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One suspects that neighborhood parents worried over the absence of a parochial school and the
increased difficulty of instilling community values into their children after many of the community’s children
began attending the neighborhood public school. Perhaps that is why the Evangelical Church built a large
new Sunday School building just north of the parsonage on Washington Street in 1915-1916. The Sunday
School building hosted church groups for regular meetings and provided a major opportunity for social
interaction and recreation in a religious environment for many years. Although in its early years the church
did not grant membership to women, that changed in 1876 when women not only were allowed to become
members, but also formed their own social group called “Frauen Verein.” Their principal goal was to help
the needy. These women formed multiple sewing circles to produce and mend clothing for the needy while
simultaneously socializing among themselves. In a late-life interview, Hank Guhleman (born in 1917)
recalled that as a young boy he would sometimes “go down into the gym [on the lower level of the building]
where there would be quilting going on all over the room.”? This building no longer stands in Munichburg.

Allowing women to vote on church issues was not the only change occurring at the church during this
period. By the late 1880s, the church’s congregation (and the southside neighborhood) had grown so
much that parishioners decided to build a new, larger church on the same site. On February 22, 1889,
church members gathered to have their photograph taken in front of the old church, just after they had
held their last service in it.%' They chose church member and local builder Fred Binder to serve as the
general contractor. Binder was a German immigrant who arrived in the capital city in 1866 as a twenty-
year-old and brought his trade skills with him. He lived for many years in a house that he built in
Munichburg at 210 East Dunklin Street, only a few blocks from the Evangelical Church. Fred Binder was
unquestionably one of the dominant figures in the building trades in late-nineteenth century Jefferson City.
Binder was also the principal contractor for St. Peters Catholic Church, erected earlier in the 1880s, that
remains some eight blocks northeast of “Munichburg,” just west of the Missouri State Capitol.>? Binder was
also largely responsible for the construction of a late-nineteenth century house at 717 Washington Street,
immediately north of the Evangelical Church. This Queen Anne-influenced house was built in 1898 as the
home of the church’s pastor.* Both the church and pastor’s home built by Binder are extant. The house's
original spindlework porch was replaced by a porch with square brick columns, as was common
throughout Munichburg (and to some extent Jefferson City) during the 1920s.

% Qur Quasauicentennial; Henry “Hank" Guhleman to Gary R. Kremer. March 20. 2001. in possession of
Gary R. Kremer.

' Our Quasquicentennial.

52 Ford, History, 378-79. Binder died in 1911: his obituary appears in the Jefferson City Daily Democrat-
Tribune. September 28, 1911, sec. 1, p.1.

%3 Qur Quas uicentennial; J. W. Johnston, ed., The lilustrated Sketch Book of Jefferson City and Cole
County (Jefterson City: Missouri lllustrated Sketch Book Company, 1900), 267.
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There was one other church in the neighborhood, although it served a much smaller congregation. The
German Methodist Eplscopal ghurch was built in 1874-1875 near the northwest border of the
neighborhaod. at the intersection of West Elm and Broadway Streets. This church served a congregation
that traced its members to an organization of German Methodists formed in 1846 from among members
throughout Osage, Cole, Moniteau, and Cooper Counties.> By 1900, however, it was clear that the
congregation was dwmc!lmg, based on these comments: The church “at no time had a large membership,”
“almost passed from existence,” and “now has . . . 34 members."® The German Methodist Episcopal
Church was not so fortunate as the Evangelical Church, as its use was discontinued sometime during the
World War | era. The building was converted to duplexes in 1930 and is included in this MPS as the Albert
and Withelmina Thomas House.*®

Another trend in Munichburg during this period was that as the early settlers of the neighborhood aged
and passed away, the second generation began to leave its mark on neighborhood development. For
example. Charles Tanner, Jacob Tanner's brother, died in 1904. But the business that he had established
continued and expanded greatly after his death, by Theodore and his younger brothers, Ludwig and Julius,
operating as the “Tanner Brothers Machine Shop and Garage” for more than four decades.
Foreshadowing changes yet to come to Munichburg, Theodore Tanner completed the first automobile in
Jefterson City in 1900, haymg been three years in the making in the Tanner Brothers’ machine shop on
Jefferson Street. The business appeared in city directories for the last time in 1946.5” This building
remains just south of the lacation of the original Tanner store, which does not remain. The Tanner
Machine Shop was most recently known as the Old Munichburg Antique Mall. Jacob Tanner died in 1914,
but his sons continued to operate his businesses. Herman operated the dry goods store at 700 Jefferson
Street and his brother August operated the grocery store next door. The Tanner brothers continued to
operate their retail establishments into the mid-1920s. After Herman Tanner retired, his son Will Tanner
established a funeral home in the old dry goods store. The funeral home was destroyed by fire in 1969.%
August's store no longer remains either, but ane of the finest late-nineteenth century residential structures
still standing in the southside is the Herman Tanner house, built at 630 Broadway Street in 1887 (included

. 5% Urbana Gr_oqp. Hi.storic 'South‘side Survey Inventory Sheet, Albert and Wilhelmina Thomas (Schroeder)
House (Survey on file with Missouri DNR State Historic Preservation Office); Johnston, 416.

% Johnston. 416.
~ * urbana Group. Historic Southside Survey Inventory Sheet, German Methodist Episcopal Church (Survey
on file with Missouri DNR State Historic Preservation Office); dated family photographs provided by Julianna ‘
Schroeder.
57 Kremer, Heartland History, 2:46-48.

** Interview with Jeannette Kassebaum by Gary Kremer, October 13 2000: interview with Robert Tanner by
Gary Kremar. October 30. 2000. Transcripts of all interviews conducted by Gary Kremer are in his possession.
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in the Broadway-Dunklin Historic District).>®

Other businesses and residences were spread along both sides of Dunklin Street, between Madison and
Broadway. One that still retains its historic name and location is Busch's Florist. Hugo Busch was born in
Germany in January 1867. Apparently interested in flowers from an early age, Busch worked for three
years as a ﬂons;‘t) s apprentice before he immigrated to the United S